
SPECIAL OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
AGENDA

Venue: Bainbridge Room, The Copeland Centre, Catherine 
Street, Whitehaven. CA28 7SJ 

Date: Tuesday, 28th January, 2020
Time: 2.00 pm
Contact Officer: Rose Blaney           Tel: 01946 598454

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Declarations of Interests in Agenda Items: 

To receive declarations by Members and/ or co-optees of 
interests in respect of items on this Agenda. 

Members are reminded that, in accordance with the revised 
Code of Conduct, they are required to declare any disclosable 
pecuniary interests or other registrable interests which have not 
already been declared in the Council’s Register of Interests. (It is 
a criminal offence not to declare a disclosable pecuniary interest 
either in the Register or at the meeting). 

Members are advised however, in the interests of clarity and 
transparency, to declare at this point in the meeting, any such 
disclosable pecuniary interests which they have already declared 
in the Register, as well as any other interests. 

Members are reminded that they may not, by law, participate or 
vote in any discussion in a meeting on a matter in which they 
have a disclosable pecuniary interest 

Members are advised that they should leave the room during 
consideration of any items of business in which they have a 
disclosable pecuniary interest.

Public Document Pack



3. Draft Budget 1 - 64

4. Date and Time of Next Meeting: 

The next meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee will 
be held on Thursday 6 February 2020 at 2pm in the Bainbridge 
Room, Copeland Centre.

Membership: Councillors John Kane (Chair), Felicity Wilson (Deputy Chair), 
Gemma Dinsdale, Jeanette Forster, Jeffrey Hailes, Linda Jones-Bulman, 
Charles Maudling, Sam Meteer, Sam Pollen, Andy Pratt and Eileen Weir.

Contacts: Direct Dial: 01946 598454
E-mail: rose.blaney@copeland.gov.uk
Website: www.copeland.gov.uk



Overview and Scrutiny Committee 280120

2020/21 Budget Report to the Executive

PORTFOLIO HOLDER
LEAD OFFICER:

Cllr David Moore
Steven Brown, Director of Financial Resources

REPORT AUTHOR: Steven Brown, Director of Financial Resources

WHY HAS THIS REPORT COME TO OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE?
This report provides the Overview and Scrutiny Committee with the 2020/21 budget 
report to the Executive; included as Appendix A.

RECOMMENDATIONS:
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee is recommended to: 

1. Consider the 2020/21 Budget report to the Executive attached.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee receive the annual budget setting report 
to the Executive for consideration. 

2. CONCLUSIONS

2.1. The Committee is asked to consider the report.

3. STATUTORY OFFICER COMMENTS 

3.1. Legal comments are: No legal issues arise from the report.

3.2. The Monitoring Officer’s comments are: contained in the appendices.

3.3. The Section 151 Officer’s comments are: Contained within the attached report.

3.4. EIA Comments: N/A

3.5. Policy Framework: N/A

3.6. Other consultee comments, if any: N/A

List of Appendices 

Appendix A – 2020/21 Budget Monitoring Report to the Executive.

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



This page is intentionally left blank



Executive

Revenue Budget 2020/21, Medium Term Financial Plan (2020 - 2025), 
2020/21 Treasury Management Strategy and Capital Programme (2020 - 
2025)

EXECUTIVE MEMBER: Mike Starkie, Elected Mayor
LEAD OFFICER: Steven Brown, Director of Financial Resources
REPORT AUTHOR: Steven Brown, Director of Financial Resources

WHAT BENEFITS WILL THESE PROPOSALS BRING TO COPELAND 
RESIDENTS?
These proposals ensure the proper administration of the Council’s financial 
affairs to enable the continued delivery of services to Copeland residents. 

WHY HAS THIS REPORT COME TO THE EXECUTIVE?
This report forms part of the Budget & Policy Framework within an Elected 
Mayor authority. Council is receiving this information to consider and 
endorse the Elected Mayor’s proposed budget for 2020/21 and Medium 
Term Financial Strategy projections up to 2024/25.

RECOMMENDATIONS:
Executive is asked to consider the report and: 
 
1. Recommend to Council the Mayor’s 2020/21 proposed Revenue Budget 
requirement of £8,006k and 2020 – 2025 MTFS as set out in Section 2 of 
this report which includes the fees & charges schedule for 2020/21 as set 
out in Appendix A and use of reserves schedule as set out in Appendix B.

2. Recommend to Council the Mayor’s proposal to increase Council Tax by 
1.95% for 2020/21 and delegate authority to the Council’s Section 151 
Officer to approve the necessary Council Tax calculations in accordance 
with sections 31 – 36 of the Local Government Finance Act 1982; 

3. Recommend to Council the Mayor’s proposed Capital Strategy for 
2020/21 as set out in Appendix C that includes the proposed Capital 
Programme for 2020/21 – 2024/25. 

4. Recommend to Council the 2020/21 Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement, Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement and Annual 
Investment Strategy as set out in Appendix D.Page 3



5. Recommend to Council the updated Local Council Tax Support Scheme as 
set out in paragraph 6.1.

6. Recommend to Council the Pay Policy as set out in Section 7 and 
Appendix F.

7. Note the responses to the budget consultation as set out in Appendix G.

8. Note the Statement of the Responsible Financial Officer (Section 151 
Officer).

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. The purpose of this report is to present to Council the Elected 
Mayor’s proposed budget for 2020/21. The report sets out the:

a) Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 2020 – 2025 and Elected 
Mayor’s proposed budget for 2020/21; 

b) Fees and Charges;

c) Use of Reserves;

d) Council Tax Increase for 2020/21;

e) Capital Investment Strategy including the Capital Programme for 
2020 – 2025;

f) Treasury Management Strategy and Annual Investment Strategy 
for 2020/21;

g) Local Council Tax Support Scheme; 

h) Pay Policy; and

i) Statement of the Responsible Financial Officer (Section 151 
Officer).

1.2. The Corporate Strategy 2020-24 was approved by Council in 
December 2019. The Corporate Strategy sets out the mission for 
Copeland to ‘make Copeland a better place to live, work and visit’ and 
the vision for the Council being “a commercially focused organisation 
with a national reputation for high quality services”. The Council’s 
budget is a financial reflection of the Corporate Strategy that is set in 

Page 4



the context of the available resources.

1.3. The annual budget setting process for 2020/21 began in December 
2019 with the Mayor and his Executive setting out their strategy and 
priorities for the next financial year. Core proposals have been out to 
public consultation and responses detailed within this report.  The 
statutory consultation with local businesses, one in North Copeland, 
one in South Copeland, is scheduled for mid-January as in previous 
years.

1.4. The projections in the Medium Term Financial Strategy have been 
refreshed to reflect the announcements made in the 2019 Spending 
Review, the 2020/21 Provisional Local Government Finance 
Settlement, Q2 Budget Monitoring Report and the Mayor’s response 
to the 2020/21 Budget Consultation. 

1.5. This budget is based on estimates in the Provisional Local 
Government Finance Settlement, the Final Settlement is expected to 
be published in early February 2020, and estimates for both Council 
Tax and Business Rates.

1.6. The Medium Term Financial Strategy have both been extended to 
2024/25 to cover the next five years. 

1.7. In relation to Parishes, they must formally notify the Council of their 
precept requirements by the end of January each year. Once the 
Parish precepts have been received, the formal Council Tax Setting 
(of the Council Tax Requirement) can take place.  

1.8. Following approval of the budget for 2019/20, and the receipt of the 
precept information from the Parishes, Police and County Council, 
Council approval is sought to delegate responsibility to the Council’s 
Section 151 Officer to formally set the Council Tax Requirement (CTR) 
for Copeland Borough Council by the statutory deadline of 11 March.

2. Medium Term Financial Strategy

2.1. The projections in the Medium Term Financial Strategy have been 
refreshed to reflect the 2019 Spending Review, the 2020/21 
Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement, Q2 Budget 
Monitoring Report and the Mayor’s response to the 2020/21 Budget 
Consultation. The Chancellor of the Exchequer was set to deliver the 

Page 5



Autumn Budget on 6th November however, after Parliament voted to 
delay Brexit and the Prime Minister called for a General Election, the 
Chancellor decided not to deliver it. 

2019 Spending Review

2.2. The Chancellor of the Exchequer presented the 2019 Spending 
Review to the House of Commons on 4 September 2019. It was a 
one-year spending review that covered only 2020/21; a multi-year 
spending review will be announced later in 2020. The 2019 Spending 
Review promised to deliver “the fastest real growth in day-to-day 
departmental spending in 15 years” which is very different to those 
that were announced earlier this decade, when spending was falling 
in cash terms. For Local Government spending will increase by more 
than any other department; however, the bulk of the increase in 
funding is for adult social care and shire districts have generally not 
received any of this increase.

2020/21 Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement

2.3. On 20 December 2019, the Provisional Local Government Finance 
Settlement 2020/21 was announced. A summary of the main 
announcements relevant to Copeland Borough Council is set out 
below:

 The council tax referendum limit will be 2% or £5, whichever is 
higher for local authorities.

 The Revenue Support Grant (RSG) will be maintained at 
2019/20 levels at £40,000, this compares to the 2013/14 level 
£3,312,000, reflecting the period of austerity that local 
government has undergone over the last decade.

 The 2019/20 Rural Services Delivery Grant will also be 
maintained at 2019/20 levels of £48,000.

 There was also confirmation that the Fair Funding Review and 
Business Rates Retention, due to be implemented in April 2020 
will be implemented for April 2021. These are considered later 
in this report in paragraph 2.10.

Page 6



2.4. On the whole the provisional settlement was broadly in line with 
Government’s previous announcements and existing MTFS 
assumptions. The Council has responded strongly to the provisional 
settlement as it fails to recognise the uniqueness of Copeland and the 
national role the Council has.

Q2 Budget Monitoring Report 

2.5. Additional pressures have been identified and included in the 
Medium Term Financial Strategy following the Q1 and Q2 budget 
monitoring reports to the Executive:

 Waste – an additional one off pressure of £200,000 has been 
included in the Elected Mayor’s proposed budget for 2020/21 
and MTFS to reflect the lower income levels. Recycling this 
material is now a statutory requirement however, the service 
will be reviewed during 2020/21 to identify efficiency savings 
that may be realised in order to reduce the overall cost to the 
Council.

 External Income – the Council had included £250,000 of 
external income for social value projects that is no longer 
expected.

 Beacon – an additional one off pressure of £181,000 has been 
included to offset the Beacon overspend; the Beacon will be 
reviewed during 2020/21 to identify efficiency savings that 
may be realised in order to reduce the overall cost to the 
Council.

 Benefit Overpayments – the Council recovers benefit 
overpayments where claimants’ circumstances have changed. 
Due to the success of recovering much of the older debt in 
recent years the income budget now needs reducing by 
£110,000 to reflect the current recovery of overpayments.

Page 7



Service Investments

2.6. The following investments in services are included in this budget:

 To support the development and implementation of the 
Commercial Strategy an additional £250,000 has been included 
in the base budget.

 An additional £20,000 has been included as the Council’s 
contribution to a shared joint centre for victims for Cumbria; 
the other cumbrian authorities have committed to make the 
same contribution. 

Efficiencies and Use of Reserves

2.7. The following efficiencies and use of reserves are included in this 
budget:

 In September, Council approved the Commercial Strategy; this 
underpins the Council’s ambition to become a commercial 
council. The Commercial Strategy consolidates the Council’s 
existing commercial operations and provides a framework, 
with defined objectives, for new commercial projects and for 
the delivery of future commercial activity. A key deliverable in 
the approved Corporate Strategy is to achieve £1.35m of 
additional net income from Commercial Activity by 2023. The 
budget includes additional net commercial income of £338,000 
in 2020/21, increasing to £1,350,000 by 2023/24. The Council’s 
Capital Investment Strategy includes additional capital 
investment to support the commercial strategy; this is included 
in Appendix C.

 The budget includes a drawdown from the External Resources 
Reserve of £1,188,000 in 2020/21, £462,000 in 2021/22 and 
£179,000 in 2022/23, this will begin to be replaced over the 
next two years resulting in a total drawdown from this reserve 
of £1,720,900. The forecast balance of the reserve at the end 
of the period of this MTFS is £1,741,705. 

Page 8



 Additional efficiency savings are budgeted in 2020/21 of 
£250,000 increasing to £500,000 from 2021/22; these will be 
delivered through service improvements, natural wastage and 
working with other partners. 

2019/20 Budget Consultation

2.8. The budget consultation ran from 4th December to 8th January. It was 
posted on Copeland Council’s website and social media, and hard 
copies were available in the council’s offices in Whitehaven and 
Millom, in addition to all Copeland’s libraries. The consultation 
attracted 72 responses; 71 from individuals and one from Egremont 
Town Council (see Appendix G1 & G2). The responses received in 
relation to the Council Tax and Fees and Charges are set out below:

 On the questions of a Council Tax increase of 1.95%, this was 
supported by 70% of the respondents, 15% disagreed and 15% 
were neutral; and

 On the question of increasing fees and charges to ensure they 
are covering costs, and where applicable, we plan to raise 
them by RPI in line with current inflation rates, this was 
supported by 47% of respondents, 26% disagreed and 27% 
were neutral.

2.9. The Mayor has considered the responses and confirmed the 
following for the 2020/21 budget:

 Council tax will increase by 1.95%; and

 Fees and Charges will be reviewed to ensure they cover costs, 
and where applicable, raise them by RPI in line with current 
inflation rates.

Changes in Local Government Funding from April 2021

2.10. For a number of years Government has been working with the sector 
on reforming local government funding; the Fair Funding review and 
move from 50% to 75% Business Rates Retention. Due to the delays 
in implementing Brexit this has meant delays to these changes to 
April 2021, a summary of these changes, albeit they are still being 
consulted on, is set out below. 

Page 9



Fair Funding

 Local Government is largely funded by Council Tax, Business 
Rates and, to a lesser extent depending on the local authority, 
central Grants. Local authorities keep the Council Tax it raises 
and the Grants they receive. The amount of Business Rates 
each local authority can keep however is based on their 
perceived ‘Need’; that is based on a formula that takes account 
of population, deprivation, rurality etc. This formula has been 
frozen since 2013/14. The fair funding review will change the 
components of the ‘Needs’ formula and thus the amount of 
business rates each local authority gets to keep. There will be 
winners and losers and many lobby groups and local 
authorities, including Copeland Borough Council, have been 
making the case for their ‘Needs’ to be recognised. This budget 
assumes no change in funding from the implementation of the 
fair funding review. 

Business Rates Retention

 The 50% Business Rates Retention system has been in place 
since 2013. This allows local government as a whole to retain 
50% of the business rates it collects. There is a system of 
redistributing this 50% across local government based on local 
authorities individual ‘Need’, as explained in the previous 
paragraph, this is through a system of ‘Top ups’ and ‘Tariffs’. 
Government has committed to move to a 75% Business Rates 
Retention system from April 2020 however, whilst this will 
mean extra funding for local government this extra funding is 
only expected to replace existing grants such as the Public 
Health Grant to upper tier authorities. 

 The move to 75% retention is considered alongside other 
changes that may have significant financial implications for 
Copeland Borough Council. Again the potential financial 
changes being considered are unable to be quantified as much 
depends on the approach taken to these changes. The Council 
currently receives over c£0.5m annually from the growth in 
business rates, the change to the new system is expected to 
result in local authorities losing any growth. The Council is 
lobbying to retain this growth and has retained this in the 

Page 10



budget from April 2021 however, if Government decided to 
remove all growth this would result in a budget pressure of 
c£0.5m from April 2021.

Summary: Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 2020 – 2025 and 
Revenue Budget for 2019/20

2.11. The following table shows the five-year projections for the refreshed 
MTFS including the 2020/21 budget year. 

2020/21
£'000

2021/22
£'000

2022/23
£'000

2023/24
£'000

2024/25
£'000

Base Budget (as per MTFS 2018/19) 9,607 9,747 9,747 9,747 9,747

Pay, Price and Contract Inflation 0 0 220 439 657
Service Pressures 741 360 360 360 360
Service Investments 270 270 270 270 270
Efficiencies and Use of Reserves (2,612) (2,511) (2,566) (2,649) (2,691)
Base Budget 8,006 7,866 8,031 8,167 8,343

Revised Sources of Finance Total (8,006) (7,866) (8,032) (8,167) (8,342)

Pay, Price and Contract Inflation 

2.12. The national pay award for 2021 has yet to be agreed, in common 
with most local authorities the pay inflation has been assumed at 2% 
in each year with adjustments confirmed in line with the scheme of 
delegation to reflect the increase in the Voluntary Living Wage. Price 
inflation has been frozen and contract inflation is in line with the 
Council’s contracts and is reflected in these budget proposals. 

2.13. The results of the triannual actuarial review of the Copeland Borough 
Council pension scheme has been completed; this will result in an 
increase in the employer pension contribution rate from 15.9% to 
18.1%, these increases are offset by a reduction in the annual 
pension deficit payment. 

Pay, Price and Contract Inflation
2020/21

£'000
2021/22

£'000
2022/23

£'000
2023/24

£'000
2024/25

£'000
Pay Inflation (2%) incl in base incl in base 169 338 507
Non pay inflation incl in base incl in base 100 200 300
Fees and Charges Policy incl in base incl in base (49) (99) (150)
Pay, Price and Contract Inflation 0 0 220 439 657

Page 11



Service Pressures 

2.14. Paragraph 2.5 sets out the additional pressures included in the 
proposed budget. 

Service Pressures
2020/21

£'000
2021/22

£'000
2022/23

£'000
2023/24

£'000
2024/25

£'000
Waste Recycling Service 200
Recovery of overpayment of Benefits 110 110 110 110 110
Removal of 2019/20 income budget no longer 
expected

250 250 250 250 250

Beacon budget pressure 181
Service Pressures 741 360 360 360 360

Service Investments 

2.15. Paragraph 2.6 sets out the additional pressures included in the 
proposed budget. 

Service Investments
2020/21

£'000
2021/22

£'000
2022/23

£'000
2023/24

£'000
2024/25

£'000
Revenue costs to support commercial strategy 250 250 250 250 250
Joint centre for victims - CBC contribution 20 20 20 20 20
Service Investments 270 270 270 270 270

Efficiencies and Use of reserves 

2.16. Paragraph 2.7 sets out the efficiencies and use of reserves included in 
the proposed budget. 

Efficiencies and Use of Reserves
2020/21

£'000
2021/22

£'000
2022/23

£'000
2023/24

£'000
2024/25

£'000
Commercial income (338) (675) (1,013) (1,350) (1,350)
Use of External Resources Reserve (1,188) (462) (179) 75 33
Efficiency Savings (250) (500) (500) (500) (500)
Reduction in cost of Copeland Centre (Grant income 
also reducd)

(837) (837) (837) (837) (837)

MTFS adjustment incl in base (37) (37) (37) (37)

Efficiencies from Efficiency Plan (2,612) (2,511) (2,566) (2,649) (2,691)

Sources of Finance

2.17. The table below sets out the updated sources of Finance based on 
the Provisional Finance Settlement and latest assumptions about 
Council Tax and Business Rates.  The Council Tax forecasts assume an 
annual increase in the Copeland Borough Council element of the 
Council Tax of 1.95%. The budget assumes the Copeland Centre PFI 
scheme is been terminated before the start of the financial year 
resulting in a loss of PFI grant of £837,000 and compensating 
reduction in expenditure.

Page 12



Sources of Finance
2020/21

£'000
2021/22

£'000
2022/23

£'000
2023/24

£'000
2024/25

£'000
Revenue Support Grant (40) 0 0 0 0

Business Rates (3,204) (3,236) (3,268) (3,301) (3,334)

Business Rates Pooling (200) 0 0 0 0

Other Grants (48) (48) (48) (48) (48)

New Homes Bonus (98) (36) (35) 0 0

PFI Grant 0 0 0 0 0

Council Tax (4,382) (4,483) (4,609) (4,735) (4,861)

Council Tax: Collection Fund Surplus (63) (63) (63) (63) (63)

Revised Sources of Finance Total (8,035) (7,866) (8,023) (8,147) (8,306)

Council Tax Requirement for 2020/21

2.18. The impact of the 1.95% increase on Band D and B (highest number 
of properties in the borough) is detailed in the Table overleaf: 

Property Band 2019/20 2020/21 Extra Cost
Extra Cost Per 

Week
Disabled A 114.59 116.83 2.23 0.04

A 137.51 140.19 2.68 0.05
B 160.43 163.56 3.13 0.06
C 183.35 186.92 3.58 0.07
D 206.27 210.29 4.02 0.08
E 252.10 257.02 4.92 0.09
F 297.94 303.75 5.81 0.11
G 343.78 350.48 6.70 0.13
H 412.53 420.57 8.04 0.15

Increase (%) 1.95%

3. Use of Reserves

3.1. Getting the balance of risk right is important so that money is only 
held to ultimately support the delivery of services to the Council’s 
residents and communities. Reviewing the Reserves and Balances 
that the authority holds allows the Council to demonstrate that its 
finances are being managed prudently.

3.2. Revenue reserves and balances play a key role in the management of 
the Council’s finances. They are used as a contingency to mitigate 
against risk, to fund new policy initiatives and to support the 
Council’s revenue and capital budgets when needed. The key essence 
of reserves and balances is that they are held at an appropriate level, 
reviewed regularly and used to support one-off initiatives and/or 
support the Council through transition periods on a time limited 
basis. Page 13



General Fund

3.3. The opening balance on the General Fund as at April 2019 is 
£2.932m. After allowing for the budgeted transfer to the 2019/20 
budget of £(0.242m) and Q2 projected overspend of (£0.352m) and 
planned use of the General Fund in 2019/20 of (£0.227m), the 
forecast balance on the General Fund in March 2020 is £2.338m. 
There is budgeted drawdown from this reserve during the period of 
this MTFS.

3.4. The General Fund is made up of two elements; a risk based element 
and an un-earmarked element. The risk-based approach determines 
an appropriate level of ‘balances’ to be held in relation to risks and 
specific circumstances facing the Council. The risk-based element of 
the General Fund provides cover for material risks and uncertainties 
that arise that cannot be covered by the approved budget or existing 
reserves, and for emergencies. It does not provide funds for 
additional investment, rather it is there to ensure the approved 
budget can be delivered if specific material risks materialise. 

3.5. The risk based element of the General Fund was assessed at £2m for 
the 2018/19 budget as set in February 2018. Taking into account all 
known factors and anticipated risk areas, the General Fund Risk 
Based Reserve has been reviewed by the Section 151 Officer, who 
has determined this Reserve is to be maintained to the level of at 
least £2m over the period of the Medium Term Financial Strategy. If 
the Balance on this reserve is projected to fall below the 
recommended risk-based level, then Council must give priority to 
restoring the balance in-year through a separate report to full Council 
which would be initiated by the Section 151 Officer. 

Earmarked Reserves

3.6. Earmarked reserves are established to meet specific needs that have 
been identified and agreed. New reserves or changes to the use of 
existing reserves must be approved by the Executive either through 
the budget monitoring or budget setting process. 

3.7. The adequacy and appropriateness of each earmarked reserve is 
reviewed twice yearly – firstly, within the budget setting process (this 
report refers) and again when they are reported as part of the 
outturn process, which is used to inform decisions on carry forwards. Page 14



Once the purpose of an earmarked reserve has been fulfilled, or the 
balance is higher than is needed, any remaining balance is returned, 
in the first instance, to the General Fund.

3.8. The projected balance on the Earmarked Reserves as at 31st March 
2020 is £9.579m; a significant element of this relates to external 
contributions for future projects, the PFI reserve of £1.506m and the 
External Resources Shortfall of £3.463m. The budget will utilise some 
of the External Resources Shortfall reserve to balance resulting in a 
forecast balance at March 2025 of £1.742m. 

4. Capital Investment Strategy

4.1. Capital expenditure includes the acquisition and construction of non-
current assets, such as land and buildings, which have a useful life in 
excess of 12 months as well as expenditure on additions to, or 
enhancement of, existing non-current assets. It also includes items 
such as grants towards expenditure incurred by third parties (for 
example the Disabled Facilities grants). An effective Capital 
Investment Strategy ensures that asset management planning and 
the delivery of major projects are key activities in ensuring that the 
Council meets its corporate and service aims and delivers its core 
services. The Capital Strategy is set out Appendix B, this includes the 
proposed capital programme for 2019/20 to 2021/22. 

Capital Strategy

4.2. The Capital investment Strategy sets out how the capital programme 
is developed. It highlights the issues and options that influence 
capital spending and sets out how the resources and capital 
programme is managed. The strategy sets out the Council’s ambitions 
in the short, medium and long term and includes:

 Strategic Ambition;

 Current capital priorities;

 Available and Potential investment levels;

 Alternative sources of funding capital expenditure;

 Prudential Borrowing
Page 15



 Commercial Investment Strategy & Decision Making;

 Performance Management; and

 The proposed Capital Programme for the period 2020/21 to 
2024/25..

4.3. The proposed Capital Programme for the period 2020/21 to 2024/25 
includes schemes that were planned for 2019/20 that are now 
expected to be spent in future years. The Q2 budget monitoring 
report identified a number of schemes where it was unlikely that the 
budget would be spent in the year. Following a refresh of the capital 
programme as part of the Q3 budget monitoring process, a total of 
£7m is identified to be reprogrammed into future years; this is 
identified in the Capital Strategy. 

4.4. The proposed Capital Programme also includes provision for an 
additional £5m p.a. to fund commercial investments. This will be 
funded from prudential borrowing using internal resources initially 
and then external borrowing. Prudential borrowing is where the debt 
costs have to be funded from the Council’s revenue budget, or from 
generating additional ongoing longer term income streams. 
Prudential borrowing will only be used where there is a clear financial 
case, such as major regeneration schemes which provide a net return 
over and above the borrowing cost, “invest to save” projects, or 
“spend to earn” schemes. The principle of affordability is therefore a 
key consideration.

Financing the Capital Programme

4.5. The resources available to finance the capital programme include:

 External Grants and Contributions;

 Capital receipts form the disposal of assets;

 Reserves; and

 Borrowing (Internal or External).

Page 16



4.6. The proposed financing of each scheme in the Capital Programme for 
2019/20 to 2021/22 is set out in the Capital Investment Strategy in 
Appendix C. Capital receipts are forecast to reduce to £1.218m over 
the period of the capital programme and borrowing increased by a 
maximum of £27m through use of prudential borrowing. The 
borrowing level is forecast to increase to 3.3 times the Council’s net 
budget, which is less than the average borrowing levels of 5 times net 
budget across all shire district councils. Borrowing will initially be 
made using cash and investment balances (internal borrowing) and 
then by PWLB loans (external borrowing). These investment decisions 
will be undertaken in accordance with the Council’s Treasury 
Management Strategy. 

4.7. The revenue implications of future borrowing includes the repayment 
of debt and interest, whether this is internal or external debt, is 
included in the revenue budgets in the MTFS. It should be noted 
however that a key assumption applied is that the future costs of 
borrowing can be recovered from the net operating income of future 
investment decisions. 

Summary

4.8. The Capital Investment Strategy shows sets out how the capital 
programme is developed, the issues and options that influence 
capital spending and sets out how the resources and capital 
programme is managed. The main risk relates to ensuring the net 
income can meet the financing costs where there is a decision 
regarding borrowing to finance the investment, this however will be 
considered as part of the business case for the scheme. On balance 
the strategy is affordable over the longer term.

5. Treasury Management Strategy and Annual Investment Strategy for 
2020/21

5.1. This section sets out the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement for 2020/21, in accordance with the CIPFA Code of 
Practice on Treasury Management.  The Annual Investment Strategy 
and the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Strategy for 2020/21 are 
also incorporated as part of the Statement.  So too are the Prudential 
Indicators as required within the Prudential Code for Capital Finance 
in Local Authorities. 

Page 17



5.2. The Council will receive each year the following reports: Annual 
strategy and plan in advance of the year (this report) and an annual 
report after its close. It will also receive updates as appropriate 
through the budget monitoring reports to the Executive.   

5.3. As required under the Code, the Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement for 2018/19, which also incorporates both the Investment 
Strategy for that year and the Minimum Revenue Provision Policy 
Statement, is set out in Appendix 1.   Within this Appendix are the 
Prudential Indicators that must be determined under the 
requirements of the CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in 
Local Authorities.  

5.4. The Treasury Management Strategy Statement itself has the 
following Appendices:  

 Appendix 1A - Shows the approved Countries that the Council 
can place investments with (currently restricted to those only 
within the UK) 

 Appendix 1B – the scheme of delegation detailing which 
Committees are responsible for certain aspects of Treasury 
Management  

 Appendix 1C – The role of the S151 Officer.

6. Local Council Tax Support Scheme

6.1. The Local Council Tax Support Scheme (LCTS) was approved by 
Council on 22 January 2013. Under the current scheme none of the 
funding reduction has been passed on to claimants and the Council 
meets the cost. The Local Council Tax Support Scheme (LCTS) is 
subject to new regulations that are in force from 11 February 2020. 
The scheme is currently being altered accordingly to reflect these 
changes, prior to 1st April 2020 and Council will be asked to approve 
the revised scheme in advance, changes to be made include: 

 definition of a qualifying person;

 opposite sex civil partnerships; and

 parental bereavement leave and pay.
Page 18



6.2. The scheme will be included as Appendix E to this report for Council 
once updated.

7. Pay Policy

7.1. Chapter 8 of the Localism Act 2011 sets out the minimum statutory 
requirements for Councils with regard to openness and 
accountability in local pay. The Council is required by Section 38(1) of 
the Act to publish a Pay Policy Statement. In preparing its Statement, 
the Council must have regard to the guidance which has been issued 
under Section 40 of the Act and the Department for Communities 
and Local Government Supplementary Guidance February 2013. 
Therefore, there is a requirement for the annual Pay Policy 
Statement to be approved by Full Council and published with the 
Budget by 31 March.  Appendix F is attached for approval.

8. Statement of the Responsible Financial Officer (Section 151 Officer)

8.1. In accordance with the Local Government Act 2003, the Section 151 
Officer is required to form a view on the robustness of the estimates 
used in setting the Elected Mayor’s proposed budget for 2020/21 and 
the adequacy of reserves.  In forming this view, the Section 151 
Officer has placed reliance on information and records provided to 
him throughout the budget setting process. 

8.2. In relation to the robustness of estimates, the audit certificate for the 
2017/18 Statement of Accounts is outstanding however there are no 
changes to the main balances impacting on the financial standing of 
the Council, the Section 151 Officer is satisfied however that 
information held for budgeting and reporting purposes is sound. 

8.3. The Section 151 Officer has carried out a new risk assessment on the 
Reserves and Balances of the authority and this has been considered 
in Section 3.  Based on approval of the report as presented, the 
Section 151 Officer is satisfied that the level of the Risk Based 
Reserve (Balances) is adequate. 

Page 19



9. STATUTORY OFFICER COMMENTS 

9.1. Legal comments are: No legal issues arise from this report.

9.2. The Monitoring Officer’s comments are: To be provided at the 
meeting.

9.3. The Section 151 Officer’s comments are: Contained within the report

9.4. EIA Comments

9.5. Policy Framework

9.6. Other consultee comments, if any:

10.RESOURCE REQUIREMENTS

10.1. As set out in the report.

11.HOW WILL THE PROPOSALS BE PROJECT MANAGED AND HOW ARE 
THE RISKS GOING TO BE MANAGED?

11.1. Regular budget monitoring arrangements and reporting to the 
Executive. 

List of Appendices: 
Appendix A1 Fees and Charges Schedule
Appendix A2 Fees and Charges Schedule (Planning Applications)
Appendix B Use of Reserves schedule
Appendix C Capital Investment Strategy
Appendix D Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS), 

Minimum Revenue Policy Statement and Annual 
Investments Strategy – To Follow

Appendix E Local Council Tax Support Scheme (not included in the 
Executive report)

Appendix F Pay Policy
Appendix G Budget consultation Responses

Page 20



1 
 

Planning Portal - Application Fees England - January 2018 – V2018.1 

A Guide to the Fees for Planning Applications in England 
 
These fees apply from 17 January 2018 onwards. 
 
This document is based upon ‘The Town and Country Planning (Fees for Applications, Deemed 
Applications, Requests and Site Visits) (England) Regulations 2012’ (as amended) 
 
The fee should be paid at the time the application is submitted. If you are unsure of the 
fee applicable, please contact your Local Planning Authority. 
 
Outline Applications 
£462 per 0.1 hectare for sites up to and 
including 2.5 hectares 

Not more than 2.5 
hectares 

£462 per 0.1 hectare 

£11,432 + £138 for each 0.1 in excess of 
2.5 hectares to a maximum of £150,000 

More than 2.5 
hectares 

£11,432 + £138 per 0.1 
hectare 

 
Householder Applications 
Alterations/extensions to a single 
dwellinghouse, including works within 
boundary 

Single 
dwellinghouse 

£206 

 
Full Applications 
(and First Submissions of Reserved Matters; or Technical Details Consent) 
Alterations/extensions to two or more 
dwellinghouses, including works within 
boundaries 

Two or more 
dwellinghouses (or 
two or more flats)  

£407 

New dwellinghouses (up to and 
including 50) 

New 
dwellinghouses 
(not more than 50) 

£462 per 
dwellinghouse 

New dwellinghouses (for more than 50) 
£22,859 + £138 per additional 
dwellinghouse in excess of 50 up to a 
maximum fee of £300,000 

New 
dwellinghouses 
(more than 50) 

£22,859 + £138 per 
additional 
dwellinghouse 

 
Continued on next page… 
 
  

Page 21

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2920/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2920/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/changes/affected/uksi/2012/2920
https://1app.planningportal.co.uk/YourLpa/FindYourLpa


2 
 

Planning Portal - Application Fees England - January 2018 – V2018.1 

Full Applications 
(and First Submissions of Reserved Matters; or Technical Details Consent) 
continued… 
Erection of buildings (not dwellinghouses, agricultural, glasshouses, plant nor 
machinery): 
Gross floor space to be created by the 
development 

No increase in 
gross floor space 
or no more than 
40 sq m 

£234 

Gross floor space to be created by the 
development 

More than 40 sq m 
but no more than  
75 sq m 

£462 

Gross floor space to be created by the 
development 

More than 75 sq m 
but no more than  
3,750 sq m 

£462 for each 75sq m 
or part thereof 

Gross floor space to be created by the 
development 

More than 3,750 
sq m 

£22,859 + £138 for 
each additional 75 sq m 
in excess of 3,750 sq m 
to a maximum of 
£300,000 

The erection of buildings (on land used for agriculture for agricultural purposes) 
Gross floor space to be created by the 
development 

Not more than 465 
sq m 

£96 

Gross floor space to be created by the 
development 

More than 465 sq 
m but not more 
than 540 sq m 

£462 

Gross floor space to be created by the 
development 

More than 540 sq 
m but not more 
than 4,215 sq m 

£462 for first 540 sq m 
+ £462 for each 75 sq 
m (or part thereof) in 
excess of 540 sq m 

Gross floor space to be created by the 
development 

More than 4,215 
sq m   

£22,859 + £138 for 
each 75 sq m (or part 
thereof) in excess of 
4,215 sq m up to a 
maximum of £300,000 

 
Continued on next page… 
 
  

Page 22



3 
 

Planning Portal - Application Fees England - January 2018 – V2018.1 

Full Applications 
(and First Submissions of Reserved Matters; or Technical Details Consent) 
continued… 
Erection of glasshouses (on land used for the purposes of agriculture) 
Gross floor space to be created by the 
development 

Not more than 465 
sq m 

£96 

Gross floor space to be created by the 
development 

More than 465 sq 
m  

£2,580 

Erection/alterations/replacement of plant and machinery 
Site area Not more than 5 

hectares 
£462 for each 0.1 
hectare (or part 
thereof) 

Site area More than 5 
hectares 

£22,859 + additional 
£138 for each 0.1 
hectare (or part 
thereof) in excess of 5 
hectares to a maximum 
of £300,000 

 
Applications other than Building Works 
Car parks, service roads or other 
accesses 

For existing uses £234 

Waste (Use of land for disposal of refuse or waste materials or deposit of material 
remaining after extraction or storage of minerals) 
Site area Not more than 15 

hectares 
£234 for each 0.1 
hectare (or part 
thereof) 

Site area More than 15 
hectares 

£34,934 + £138 for each 
0.1 hectare (or part 
thereof) in excess of 15 
hectares up to a  
maximum of £78,000 

 
Continued on next page…  

Page 23



4 
 

Planning Portal - Application Fees England - January 2018 – V2018.1 

Applications other than Building Works continued… 
Operations connected with exploratory drilling for oil or natural gas 
Site area Not more than 7.5 

hectares 
£508 for each 0.1 
hectare (or part 
thereof) 

Site area More than 7.5 
hectares 

£38,070  + additional 
£151 for each 0.1 
hectare (or part 
thereof) in excess of 7.5 
hectares up to a 
maximum of £300,000 

Operations (other than exploratory drilling) for the winning and working of oil or 
natural gas 
Site area Not more than 15 

hectares 
£257 for each 0.1 
hectare (or part 
thereof) 

Site area More than 15 
hectares 

£38,520 + additional 
£151 for each 0.1 in 
excess of 15 hectare up 
to a maximum of 
£78,000 

Other operations (winning and working of minerals) excluding oil and natural gas 
Site area Not more than 15 

hectares 
£234 for each 0.1 
hectare (or part 
thereof) 

Site area More than 15 
hectares 

£34,934 + additional 
£138 for each 0.1 in 
excess of 15 hectare up 
to a maximum of 
£78,000 

Other operations (not coming within any of the above categories) 
Site area Any site area £234 for each 0.1 

hectare (or part 
thereof) up to a 
maximum of £2,028 

 
Continued on next page… 
  

Page 24



5 
 

Planning Portal - Application Fees England - January 2018 – V2018.1 

 
Lawful Development Certificate  
Existing use or operation Same as Full 
Existing use or operation - lawful not to comply with any 
condition or limitation   

£234   

Proposed use or operation Half the normal 
planning fee. 

 
Prior Approval  
Agricultural and Forestry buildings & operations or demolition 
of buildings 

£96 

Communications (previously referred to as 
‘Telecommunications Code Systems Operators’) 

£462 

Proposed Change of Use to State Funded School or Registered 
Nursery 

£96 

Proposed Change of Use of Agricultural Building to a 
State-Funded School or Registered Nursery 

£96 

Proposed Change of Use of Agricultural Building to a flexible 
use within Shops, Financial and Professional services, 
Restaurants and Cafes, Business, Storage or Distribution, 
Hotels, or Assembly or Leisure 

£96 

Proposed Change of Use of a building from Office (Use Class 
B1) Use to a use falling within Use Class C3 (Dwellinghouse) 

£96 

Proposed Change of Use of Agricultural Building to a 
Dwellinghouse (Use Class C3), where there are no Associated 
Building Operations 

£96 

Proposed Change of Use of Agricultural Building to a 
Dwellinghouse (Use Class C3), and Associated Building 
Operations 

£206 

Proposed Change of Use of a building from a Retail (Use Class 
A1 or A2) Use or a Mixed Retail and Residential Use to a use 
falling within Use Class C3 (Dwellinghouse), where there are 
no Associated Building Operations 

£96 

Proposed Change of Use of a building from a Retail (Use Class 
A1 or A2) Use or a Mixed Retail and Residential Use to a use 
falling within Use Class C3 (Dwellinghouse), and  Associated 
Building Operations 

£206 

 
Continued on next page… 
  

Page 25



6 
 

Planning Portal - Application Fees England - January 2018 – V2018.1 

Prior Approval continued… 
Notification for Prior Approval for a Change Of Use from 
Storage or Distribution Buildings (Class B8) and any land 
within its curtilage to Dwellinghouses (Class C3) 

£96 

Notification for Prior Approval for a Change of Use from 
Amusement Arcades/Centres and Casinos, (Sui Generis Uses) 
and any land within its curtilage to Dwellinghouses (Class C3) 

£96 

Notification for Prior Approval for a Change of Use from 
Amusement Arcades/Centres and Casinos, (Sui Generis Uses) 
and any land within its curtilage to Dwellinghouses (Class C3), 
and  Associated Building Operations 

£206 

Notification for Prior Approval for a Change of Use from Shops 
(Class A1), Financial and Professional Services (Class A2), 
Betting Offices, Pay Day Loan Shops and Casinos (Sui Generis 
Uses) to Restaurants and Cafés (Class A3) 

£96 

Notification for Prior Approval for a Change of Use from Shops 
(Class A1), Financial and Professional Services (Class A2), 
Betting Offices, Pay Day Loan Shops and Casinos (Sui Generis 
Uses) to Restaurants and Cafés (Class A3), and  Associated 
Building Operations 

£206 

Notification for Prior Approval for a Change of Use from Shops 
(Class A1) and Financial and Professional Services (Class A2), 
Betting Offices, Pay Day Loan Shops (Sui Generis Uses) to 
Assembly and Leisure Uses (Class D2) 

£96 

Notification for Prior Approval for a Development Consisting 
of the Erection or Construction of a Collection Facility within 
the Curtilage of a Shop 

£96 

Notification for Prior Approval for the Temporary Use of 
Buildings or Land for the Purpose of Commercial Film-Making 
and the Associated Temporary Structures, Works, Plant or 
Machinery required in Connection with that Use 

£96 

Notification for Prior Approval for the Installation, Alteration 
or Replacement of other Solar Photovoltaics (PV) equipment 
on the Roofs of Non-domestic Buildings, up to a Capacity of 1 
Megawatt 

£96 

 
Continued on next page… 
  

Page 26



7 
 

Planning Portal - Application Fees England - January 2018 – V2018.1 

Reserved Matters 
Application for approval of reserved matters following outline 
approval 

Full fee due or if full fee 
already paid then £462 
due 

 
Approval/Variation/discharge of condition 
Application for removal or variation of a condition following 
grant of planning permission 

£234 

Request for confirmation that one or more planning 
conditions have been complied with 

£34 per request for  
Householder otherwise 
£116 per request 

 
Change of Use of a building to use as one or more separate 
dwellinghouses, or other cases 
Number of dwellinghouses Not more than 50  

dwellinghouses 
£462 for each 

Number of dwellinghouses More than 50 
dwellinghouses 

£22,859 + £138 for 
each in excess of 50 
up to a maximum of 
£300,000 

Other Changes of Use of a building or land £462 
 
Advertising  
Relating to the business on the premises £132 
Advance signs which are not situated on or visible from 
the site, directing the public to a business 

£132 

Other advertisements £462 
 
Application for a Non-material Amendment Following a Grant of 
Planning Permission  
Applications in respect of householder developments £34 
Applications in respect of other developments £234 
 
Application for Permission in Principle (valid from 1 June 2018) 
Site area £402 for each 0.1 

hectare (or part 
thereof) 

 
Continued on next page… 

Page 27



8 
 

Planning Portal - Application Fees England - January 2018 – V2018.1 

Concessions 
Exemptions from payment 
For alterations, extensions, etc. to a dwellinghouse for the benefit of a registered 
disabled person 
An application solely for the carrying out of the operations for the purpose of providing 
a means of access for disabled persons to or within a building or premises to which 
members of the public are admitted 
Listed Building Consent 
Planning permission for relevant demolition in a Conservation Area 
Works to Trees covered by a Tree Preservation Order or in a Conservation Area 
Hedgerow Removal 
If the application is the first revision of an application for development of the same 
character or description on the same site by the same applicant: 

• For a withdrawn application: Within 12 months of the date when the application 
was received 

• For a determined application: Within 12 months of the date the application was 
granted, refused or an appeal dismissed 

• For an application where an appeal was made on the grounds of non-
determination: Within 12 months of the period when the giving of notice of a 
decision on the earlier valid application expired 

If the application is for a lawful development certificate, for existing use, where an 
application for planning permission for the same development would be exempt from 
the need to pay a planning fee under any other planning fee regulation 
If the application is for consent to display an advertisement following either a 
withdrawal of an earlier application (before notice of decision was issued) or where the 
application is made following refusal of consent for display of an advertisement, and 
where the application is made by or on behalf of the same person 
If the application is for consent to display an advertisement which results from a 
direction under Regulation 7 of the 2007 Regulations, dis-applying deemed consent 
under Regulation 6 to the advertisement in question  
 If the application is for alternative proposals for the same site by the same applicant, in 
order to benefit from the permitted development right in Schedule 2 Part 3 Class V of 
the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (as 
amended) 
If the application relates to a condition or conditions on an application for Listed 
Building Consent or planning permission for relevant demolition in a Conservation Area 
If the application is for a Certificate of Lawfulness of Proposed Works to a listed building 
Prior Approval for a Proposed Larger Home Extension 
 
Continued on next page… 

Page 28



9 
 

Planning Portal - Application Fees England - January 2018 – V2018.1 

 
Concessions continued… 
Reductions to payments 
If the application is being made on behalf of a non-profit making sports club for works 
for playing fields not involving buildings then the fee is £462 
If the application is being made on behalf of a parish or community council then the fee 
is 50% 
If the application is an alternative proposal being submitted on the same site by the 
same applicant on the same day, where this application is of lesser cost then the fee is 
50% 
In respect of reserved matters you must pay a sum equal to or greater than what would 
be payable at current rates for approval of all the reserved matters.  If this amount has 
already been paid then the fee is £462 
If the application is for a Lawful Development Certificate for a Proposed use or 
development, then the fee is 50% 
If two or more applications are submitted for different proposals on the same day and 
relating to the same site then you must pay the fee for the highest fee plus half sum of 
the others 
Where an application crosses one or more local or district planning authorities, the 
Planning Portal fee calculator will only calculate a cross boundary application fee as 
150% of the fee that would have been payable if there had only been one application to 
a single authority covering the entire site.  
 
If the fee for this divided site is smaller when the sum of the fees payable for each part 
of the site are calculated separately, you will need to contact the lead local authority to 
discuss the fee for this divided site. 
 
The fee should go to the authority that contains the larger part of the application site. 
 
ENDS 

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



Use of Reserves Appenidx B

£
Forecast 
Balance

Forecast 
Balance

Forecast 
Balance

Forecast 
Balance

Forecast 
Balance

Forecast 
Balance

Earmarked Reserve Purpose 31/3/20 Forecast Use 31/3/21 Forecast Use 31/3/22 Forecast Use 31/3/23 Forecast Use 31/3/24 Forecast Use 31/3/25

External Resources (previously Business 
Rates Safety Net)

To fund the shortfall in external resources (3,462,605) 1,187,900 (2,274,705) 462,000 (1,812,705) 179,000 (1,633,705) (75,000) (1,708,705) (33,000) (1,741,705)

Copeland Centre
To meet future risks / unbudgdted costs at the 
Copeland Centre

(1,506,063) 367,500 (1,138,563) (1,138,563) (1,138,563) (1,138,563) (1,138,563)

Nuclear Assists in the future funding of nuclear activities (854,126) 170,825 (683,301) 170,825 (512,476) 170,825 (341,650) 170,825 (170,825) 170,825 0
Well Whitehaven Project Contributions received to fund the project. (354,485) 354,485 0 0 0 0 0
Chief Executives Directorate Carry 
Forwards

Amounts carried forward to meet delayed or estimated 
planned expenditure

(262,050) 262,050 0 0 0 0 0

Business Development Project Contribution received to fund the project. (340,000) 170,000 (170,000) 170,000 0 0 0 0
Customer & Communities Directorate Carry 
Forwards

Amounts carried forward to meet delayed or estimated 
planned expenditure

(213,408) 213,408 0 0 0 0 0

Tourism Project Contribution received to fund the project. (266,000) 133,000 (133,000) 133,000 0 0 0 0

Crematorium Abatement of Mercury 
Emissions

To support  the cremation to remove mercury from 
50% of cremations as per Government Target

(321,500) (321,500) (321,500) (321,500) (321,500) (321,500)

Elections Fund
To smooth the costs of elections and impact of 
individual elector registration

(136,492) (40,000) (176,492) (40,000) (216,492) (40,000) (256,492) 153,258 (103,234) (40,000) (143,234)

Works & Skills Programme Contribution received to fund the project. (156,000) 78,000 (78,000) 78,000 0 0 0 0

Leisure Centre Planned Maintenance To fund planned maintenance at the leisure Centre (25,000) 25,000 0 0 0 0 0

IT Reserve
Corporate ICT needs and ICT Business Continuity and 
Disaster Recovery

(105,000) 105,000 0 0 0 0 0

Coastal Management Risk Reserve
To provide for environmental coastal management 
risks

(200,000) (200,000) (200,000) (200,000) (200,000) (200,000)

Planning Policy To support the development of the local plan (82,025) 82,025 0 0 0 0 0

Universal Credit To meet the costs of implementing Universal Credit. (75,000) 75,000 0 0 0 0 0

Pride of Place Contribution received to fund the project. (100,000) 50,000 (50,000) 50,000 0 0 0 0
Housing To support housing initiatives (93,971) 46,986 (46,986) 46,986 0 0 0 0
Copeland Pool To fund maintenance costs (77,480) 38,740 (38,740) 38,740 0 0 0 0
Copeland Car Park To fund maintenance works for the CBC car parks (100,000) (100,000) (100,000) (100,000) (100,000) (100,000)

Land Management Risk Reserve
For the Council's liabilities on its own land where 
subsidence occurs, e.g. fencing and monitoring of 
movement

(96,500) (96,500) (96,500) (96,500) (96,500) (96,500)

Car Parks To fund maintenance works for the CBC car parks (93,450) (93,450) (93,450) (93,450) (93,450) (93,450)
Other reserves Various (657,713) (657,713) (657,713) (657,713) (657,713) 0

Total (9,578,869) 3,319,919 (6,258,950) 1,109,551 (5,149,399) 309,825 (4,839,574) 249,083 (4,590,491) 97,825 (3,834,953)

P
age 31



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix C

Capital Investment Strategy

Introduction 

Capital expenditure includes the acquisition and construction of non-current 
assets, such as land and buildings, which have a useful life in excess of 12 months 
as well as expenditure on additions to, or enhancement of, existing non-current 
assets. It also includes items such as grants towards expenditure incurred by 
third parties (for example the Disabled Facilities grants). An effective Capital 
Investment Strategy ensures that asset management planning and the delivery 
of major projects are key activities in ensuring that the Council meets its 
corporate and service aims and delivers its core services. 

This Capital investment Strategy sets out how the capital programme is 
developed. It highlights the issues and options that influence capital spending 
and sets out how the resources and capital programme is managed. The strategy 
sets out the Council’s ambitions in the short, medium and long term and 
includes:

I. Strategic Ambition;

II. Current capital priorities;

III. Available and Potential investment levels;

IV. Alternative sources of funding capital expenditure;

V. Prudential Borrowing

VI. Commercial Investment Strategy & Decision Making;

VII. Performance Management; and

VIII. The proposed Capital Programme for the period 2020/21 to 2024/25.

The document sets out how the Council makes decisions on capital investment.

Strategic Ambition

The Corporate Strategy 2020-24 was approved by Council in December 2019. 
The Corporate Strategy sets out the mission for Copeland to ‘make Copeland a 
better place to live, work and visit’ and the vision for the Council being “a 

Page 33



commercially focused organisation with a national reputation for high quality 
services”. 

The key ambitions and strategic outcomes for Copeland and the Council are 
summarised below:

 A Place for Growth - For the places where we live and work to reflect the 
aspirations and prosperity of the area;

 A Commercial Council - For Copeland to be a resilient, engaged, innovative 
and commercially enterprising Council delivering high quality, sustainable 
services for our residents;

 Healthy and Inclusive communities - Through partnership working and 
delivery, we will ensure that the most vulnerable members of our 
community are supported and all residents have better life chances; and

 Playing to our Strengths - To maximise opportunities for growth in 
Copeland by attracting business and investment and retaining our 
talented young people and promote and protect our environment.

In response to austerity there have been significant cuts to local government 
funding and this has been seen primarily through the phased removal of 
Revenue Support Grant (RSG); for Copeland this has meant a reduction is RSG 
from the 2013/14 level £3,312,000 to just £40,000 in 2020/21. In order to realise 
these key ambitions the Council needs to utilise its limited revenue resources 
effectively and maximise all capital opportunities that support our key ambitions 
for Copeland and the Council. From a capital investment perspective, this 
means:

 Identifying and maximising funding opportunities from Government;

 Working with partners to leverage capital investment in the borough; and

 Utilising the Council’s own available resources such as Capital receipts and 
borrowing.

The Council’s revenue resources are limited and therefore investment decisions 
that utilise the Council’s capital resources must generate positive returns – 
either in being cost neutral, deliver revenue or efficiency savings or produce 
additional income streams. A key driver for capital investment decisions will be 
the requirement to achieve £1.35m of additional net income from Commercial 

Page 34



Activity by 2023 as set out in the corporate strategy and Medium Term Financial 
Strategy.

Current capital priorities

The Table overleaf shows the current capital programme from 2019/20 to 
2021/22 approved by Council:

 Directorate / Funding Source 
 2019/20 
(Jun 20) 

 2020/21  2021/22  Total 
 Usable Capital 

Receipts 
 Capital grants / 
Contributions 

 Revenue 
Reserves  

 Borrowing  Total Funding 

 Accommodation Strategy               1,413                      -                        -                 1,413                          413                       1,000                       1,413 
 Investment in ICT Projects                   148                      -                        -                     148                          148                          148 
 Millom Cemetery                        2                      -                        -                          2                               2                               2 
 Pay & Display Stock                        4                      -                        -                          4                               4                               4 
 Whitehaven Cemetery Extension                   240                      -                        -                     240                             96                          144                          240 
 Bereavement Services               1,457                      -                        -                 1,457                       1,457                              -                         1,457 
 Disabled Facilities Grants                    557                   600                   600               1,757                       1,757                       1,757 
 Town Centre Regeneration                   886                   325                      -                 1,211                          804                          407                       1,211 
 Land Development               1,000                   250                      -                 1,250                       1,250                       1,250 
 Coastal Programme                   509               1,156               1,665                       1,665                       1,665 
 Beacon Virtual Museum                   100                   250                   350                          350                          350 
 IT Infrastructure                   950                      -                     950                          950                          950 
 Whitehaven Activity Centre               1,198                      -                 1,198                       1,000                          198                       1,198 
 Cleator Moor Activity Centre                   247                      -                     247                          247                          247 
 St Bees Ramp                   250                      -                     250                          250                          250 
 Total 8,961 2,581 600             12,142                       3,761                       5,820                          611                       1,950                    12,142 

As expected at the Q2 position and following a review of the Q3 budget, £7m of 
predominantly external funding will be reprogrammed into future year’s 
budgets, this is included in the proposed capital programme for 2020/21 to 
2024/25 in Appendix 1.

Available and Potential Capital Investment levels

The Council has capital resources available for future capital investment; a 
summary of the balance available is set out below:

 £'000 
 Balance as at 
1st April 2019 

 additions 
 Future 

Commitments 
 Balance 

Available 

 Capital Receipts 4,979 (3,761) 1,218
 Capital grants / Contributions 1,427 4,393 (5,820) 0
 Revenue Reserves allocated to 
capital investment 

611 (611) 0

Total 7,017 4,393 (10,192) 1,218

Revenue reserves may be allocated to either revenue or capital however, capital 
receipts and grants may only be used to finance capital expenditure. The Council 
may realise future capital receipts from the sale of land or buildings that may 
also be used to finance future capital projects. The benefit of utilising capital 

Page 35



receipts, grants, contributions and revenue reserves for capital investment 
decisions is that there is no impact on the revenue account. This is not the case 
with using borrowing to finance capital investments.

Borrowing is the other alternative funding source available to the Council to 
fund capital investments. The Council has not funded any capital schemes from 
borrowing however, commitments have been made to fund c£2m from 
borrowing, these relate to the accommodation and ICT projects; the repayment 
costs of these are included in the revenue budget. The most cost effective way 
of borrowing is to utilise the Council’s working capital, known as internal 
borrowing, and if not available then additional finance from the Public Works 
Loans Board (PWLB) would be used, known as external borrowing. Decisions 
regarding when to borrow externally, from the PWLB, are considered as part of 
the Council Treasury Management Strategy. The most important consideration 
is that schemes to be funded from borrowing, internal or external, carry a 
revenue costs of both repayment and interest and these must be included in the 
Council’s revenue budget. Capital investment decisions funded from borrowing 
must therefore be legal, prudent, affordable and sustainable.

As borrowing is usually only ever used for capital investments, unless otherwise 
directed by government, then the level of capital investments the Council is 
comfortable with funding from borrowing and its risk appetite must be a 
consideration in the Capital Investment Strategy. The Council has a minimum 
working capital balance of c£15m, this includes £5m of external debt raised in 
2003. Existing capital schemes funded from borrowing is c£2m as set out in the 
capital programme. A review of the Council’s level of external borrowing relative 
to other shire district councils shows that Copeland has a very low level of 
external borrowing relative to other shire councils. 

Page 36



Not all shire districts are the same size and thus a comparison of long term debt 
levels is not a good gauge to judge what would be an average level of long term 
borrowing for a Council of Copeland’s size. On average long term borrowing 
across all shire district councils is 5.0 times current expenditure, if the top five 
‘anomalies’ are excluded from this calculation, then the average long term 
borrowing across all shire district councils reduces to 3.7. For Copeland this 
means average external borrowing levels could increase from £5m to £38m to 
be at an average level of debt for its size. 

The Council’s capital investments need to comply with, the “Prudential Code for 
Capital finance in Local Authorities” (the Code).  Under the Code local authorities 
have greater discretion over the funding of capital expenditure especially with 
the freedom to determine, within the regulatory framework of the Code, the 
level of borrowing they wish to undertake to deliver their capital plans and 
programmes. This is more commonly referred to as Prudential Borrowing and is 
considered later in the strategy.

Copeland - £5m

Page 37



Alternative sources of funding capital expenditure

As the pressure on local authority finances continues, it is becoming increasing 
important to explore alternative sources of funding capital expenditure.  These 
options are summarised as follows:

 Local Asset backed vehicles – the Council will seek to attract investment 
into the borough through partnership working and innovation.  These 
vehicles allow the authority to use assets (usually land and buildings) to 
attract long term investment from the private sector in order to deliver 
socio-economic development and regeneration.  They are designed to 
encourage parties to pool resources to deliver regeneration with an 
acceptable balance of risk and return for all involved. We will continue to 
explore the potential for developing such partnerships and private sector 
involvement and each case will be subject to specific financial appraisal 
and Executive approval.

 Collaborative Working – this type of approach encourages interest from 
expert developers to promote a site or work together on the planning and 
infrastructure process, to enhance the attractiveness of the site to end 
users.

 Community Involvement – changes in legislation brought in under the 
Localism Act have introduced the concept of Community Asset Transfer, 
Community Right to Challenge and Community Right to Bid for services.  
This has opened up a whole spectrum of opportunities of private sector 
investment in community-led capital projects, where deemed 
appropriate.

 Grants from external contributions are a valuable source of capital finance 
and have enabled capital developments to go ahead that would not have 
been possible without the grant support. Given the scale of the Council’s 
ambitions to improve and add to its asset base much will depend on our 
ability to secure external funding. Key to this will be the on-going 
relationship with our strategic partners and the LEP.

 Section 106 agreements are contributions from developers tied into new 
construction or development projects, such as funding a new play area 
when building a housing development.  The provision of this funding can 
be contingent upon a certain state in the development being met and at 
times can be complex and difficult to monitor. This would only be relevant 

Page 38



in limited circumstances, as the new regulations require developers to put 
in place management arrangements for future maintenance of open 
space or to transfer it to a town or parish council.  This is intended to 
ensure that there are no ongoing service costs for the Council.

Where there is a revenue element to provide ongoing maintenance of facilities, 
this needs to be reflected in service revenue budgets. The Council will consider 
alternative sources of funding capital expenditure as part of its overall capital 
strategy.

Prudential Borrowing

The Council’s capital investments need to comply with, the “Prudential Code for 
Capital finance in Local Authorities” (the Code).  Under the Code local authorities 
have greater discretion over the funding of capital expenditure especially with 
the freedom to determine, within the regulatory framework of the Code, the 
level of borrowing they wish to undertake to deliver their capital plans and 
programmes. 

Prudential borrowing is where the debt costs have to be funded from the 
Council’s revenue budget, or from generating additional ongoing longer term 
income streams. The principle of affordability is therefore a key consideration. 

The Council has committed to achieve £1.35m of additional net income from 
Commercial Activity by 2023 as set out in the corporate strategy. Prudential 
borrowing will only be used where there is a clear financial case, such as major 
regeneration schemes which provide a net return over and above the borrowing 
cost, “invest to save” projects, or “spend to earn” schemes. The Council will 
ensure that commercial investments are:

 affordable – taking into account the extent to which expenses will be 
covered by income, including any need to make provision for capital 
expenditure consistently with the MHCLG Statutory Guidance on 
Minimum Revenue Provision

 prudent – maximising the reliability of the elements of the affordability 
analysis and ensuring risk is controllable within acceptable limits

 proportional – ensuring that the authority’s revenue budget is not over-
reliant on income from commercial property and that property does not 
constitute an inappropriate proportion of the overall investment portfolio

Page 39



Given the long-term nature of borrowing and the risk of change in economic 
conditions, it is important that the long and short-term risks of borrowing are 
carefully considered as part of the decision making process. The Council will 
ensure that investment decisions consider risk as set out in the Prudential Code:

 All decisions to incur expenditure and to borrow will be backed by 
effective legal powers and consistent with its strategies and policies. 

 Consideration of the authority’s returns (income and capital gains) are at 
risk, while, once incurred, borrowing costs are unavoidable. The extra 
margin or return must reflect additional risk.

Commercial Investment Strategy & Decision Making

The Council’s investment approach and strategy has been revitalised due to 
recent adoption of the Commercial Strategy 2019-23, and enhances and restates 
with positive reinforcement this Council’s approach to responsible, prudential 
and ethical investment, whist complimenting and being rooted in the existing 
MTFS.  A strategic framework for innovation and investment supports the 
development of new ideas and approaches to not only enhance, but ensure the 
financial resilience of the Council.  

The increased emphasis on developing both existing and new income streams 
has led to the creation of the Commercial (Investment) Board to approve new 
or expanded service activity and property investment/acquisitions that 
contribute both to the achievement of an agreed investment strategy, and, 
meeting the outcomes of the Commercial Strategy. The Board, acting within the 
investment governance framework, will monitor the performance of the 
Council’s diversified, yet balanced, portfolio and ensure satisfactory 
performance, return on investment, and, effective risk management.  The 
financial returns achieved from investments will help to ensure that we continue 
to deliver quality services for our residents, businesses and communities. 

An Investment Strategy provides the Council with the ability to make 
investments that have the potential to support economic growth or deliver 
economic regeneration within the Borough.  This may mean that schemes with 
lower returns are considered, however all investments need to demonstrate an 
acceptable rate of return in excess of the cost of capital in order to be affordable 
for the council.  The council will also consider the purchase of properties with 
an inherent, intrinsic and perceived altruistic value to the Borough. It is 
recognised such properties will deliver a much extended payback period and in 

Page 40



doing so provide for long-term future service use, whilst still delivering a 
contributory investment return.  

Indicative target deliverable on property investment:

Investment - Yield Investment- loans Regeneration

Return on Investment Rental (primary) Loan repayments or 
rental

Rental

Target Yield Required High Risk Investment:
>8% net return; 

Medium Risk 
Investment:
>5% net return

Low Risk Investment:
<2% net return

Inclusive above 
forecast  borrowing 
costs and forecast 
relevant ongoing costs

Yield to be an average 
of an appropriate 
illustrated initial five 
year period 

If capital loan 2.5% 
above forecast 
borrowing rates and 
forecast relevant 
ongoing costs

Yield to be an average 
of an appropriate 
illustrated initial five 
year period

>= 0% above forecast 
borrowing costs and 
forecast relevant 
ongoing costs

Yield to be an average 
of an appropriate 
initial five year period

Forecast to be subject 
to sensitivity analysis 
of estimates to ensure 
a 0% return can be 
realistically 
achieved/sustained.

Performance Management

The Council maintains comprehensive and robust procedures for managing and 
monitoring the Capital Programme and is a reciprocal process between service 
areas and financial services.

All capital projects identify milestones and key outputs. A project manager is 
identified for each scheme and they are responsible for monitoring progress, 
spend and income and producing action plans to respond to key variances – 
financial or time.  The project manager liaises closely with their finance business 
partner to produce the monthly budget monitoring statement.

Capital budget monitoring is reported to the Corporate Management Team 
(SMT) on a monthly basis and on a quarterly basis to Executive.

Page 41



This strategy is a working document with enables the Council to make rational 
capital investment decisions in order to achieve its priorities. It sets out clear 
ambitions to drive capital investment in Copeland and recognises that a 
commitment to partnership working with both the private sector and other 
public sector bodies will play a significant role in the future.  The Council will 
focus on maximising the opportunities to attract such partnership or third party 
funding.

The Council will maintain comprehensive and robust procedures for managing 
and monitoring its capital programme. This strategy should be reviewed on an 
annual basis to ensure it is relevant and up to date.  Any other policy that 
requires capital investment must be consistent with the Capital Investment 
Strategy.

The proposed Capital Programme for the period 2020/21 to 2024/25

The proposed capital programme from 2020/21 to 2024/25 is included in 
Appendix 1 to this report.

Page 42



Appendix 1

Proposed Capital Programme for the period 2020/21 to 2024/25

 Directorate / Funding 
Source 

 Revised 
2019/20 
Budget 
(Feb) 

 2020/21
(Reprofiled 

from 
2019/20) 

 2020/21 
(other) 

 2020/21  2021/22  2022/23  2023/24  2024/25  Total 
 Usable 
Capital 

Receipts 

 Capital 
grants / 

Contributio
ns 

 Revenue  Borrowing 
 Total 

Funding 

 Accommodation Strategy                     -               1,413                     -               1,413                     -               1,413                 413             1,000             1,413 
 Whitehaven Cemetery 
Extension 

                    -                   240                     -                   240                     -                   240                   96                 144                 240 

 Bereavement Services             1,000                 457                     -                   457                     -                   457                 457                     -                   457 
 Disabled Facilities Grants                  557                 600                 600                 600             1,200             1,200             1,200 
 Town Centre Regeneration                 200                 686                 325             1,011                     -               1,011                 604                 407             1,011 
 Development             1,000                 250             1,250                     -               1,250             1,250             1,250 
 Coastal Programme                 509                 509             1,156             1,665             1,665             1,665 
 Beacon Virtual Museum                 100                 250                 250                 250                 250                 250 
 IT Infrastructure                   98             1,000                     -               1,000                     -               1,000             1,000             1,000 
 Whitehaven Activity Centre             1,198                     -               1,198             1,198             1,000                 198             1,198 

 Cleator Moor Activity Centre                 247                     -                   247                 247                 247                 247 

 St Bees Ramp                 250                     -                   250                 250                 250                 250 
 New Schemes                     -                       -   
 Commercial Investments             5,000             5,000             5,000             5,000             5,000           25,000           25,000           25,000 
 Total             1,955 7,000 1,425 13,425 6,756 5,000 5,000 5,000           35,181             2,407             5,163                 611           27,000           35,181 

P
age 43



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix E

Local Council Tax Support Scheme 

The Local Council Tax Support Scheme (LCTS) is subject to new regulations that 
are in force from 11 February 2020. The scheme is currently being altered 
accordingly to reflect these changes, prior to 1st April 2020 and Council will be 
asked to approve the revised scheme in advance, changes to be made include: 

• definition of a qualifying person;

• opposite sex civil partnerships; and

• parental bereavement leave and pay.

The scheme will be included as Appendix E to this report for Council once 
updated.

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix F - Pay Policy Statement 2019/20

1. Introduction and Purpose

Under section 112 of the Local Government Act 1972, the Council has the “power 
to
appoint officers on such reasonable terms and conditions as authority thinks fit”. 
This
Pay Policy Statement (the ‘statement’) sets out the Council’s approach to pay 
policy in
accordance with the requirements of Section 38 of the Localism Act 2011.

The purpose of the statement is to provide transparency with regard to the 
Council’s
approach to setting the pay of its employees by identifying:

 the methods by which the salaries of all employees are determined;
 the detail and level of remuneration of its most senior staff i.e. ‘chief 

officers’, as
defined by the relevant legislation;

 the Committee(s)/Panel responsible for ensuring the provisions set out in 
this
statement are applied consistently throughout the Council and 
recommending
any amendments to the full Council.

Once approved by the full Council, this policy statement will come into immediate
effect and will be subject to review on a minimum of an annual basis, the policy 
for the
next financial year being approved by 31st March each year.

The introduction of the Code of Practice for Local Authority on Data Transparency 
2013 places additional duties on Local authorities in terms of publication of pay 
details which are included in the document.  The Code also requires the 
publication of Trade Union Facility Time, which is contained within.

Page 47



2. Other legislation relevant to pay and remuneration

In determining the pay and remuneration of all of its employees, the Council will
comply with all relevant employment legislation. This includes legislation such as 
the
Equality Act 2010, Part Time Employment (Prevention of Less Favourable 
Treatment)
Regulations 2000 and where relevant, the Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of
Earnings) Regulations. The Council ensures there is no pay discrimination within 
its
pay structures and that all pay differentials can be objectively justified. This 
includes the use of job evaluation processes, which directly establish the relative 
pay levels of posts according to the requirements, demands and responsibilities of 
the role.

3. Pay Structure

In setting the pay of the majority of its employees who are subject to the National 
Agreement on Pay & Conditions of Service of the National Joint Council for Local 
Government Services (NJC), the Council uses the nationally negotiated pay spine 
(a defined list of salary points) as the basis for its local pay structure, link to new 
pay structure, together with the use of locally determined rates where these do 
not apply.

The Council adopts the national pay bargaining arrangements in respect of the
Establishment and revision of the national pay spine, for example through any 
agreed annual pay increases negotiated with joint trades unions.

All other pay related allowances are the subject of either nationally or locally 
Negotiated rates, having been determined from time to time in accordance with 
Collective bargaining machinery. Allowances for such things as relocation, 
learning and development, business travel and subsistence play a part in 
supporting the Council’s ability to recruit and retain quality staff.

In determining its grading structure and setting remuneration levels for any posts
Which fall outside its scope, the Council takes account of the need to ensure value 
for money in respect of the use of public funds, balanced against the need to 
recruit and retain employees who are able to meet the requirements of providing 

Page 48



high quality services to the community, delivered effectively and efficiently and at 
times at which those services are required.

Where grades with pay scales are used, new appointments will normally be made 
at the minimum of the relevant scale for the grade, although this can be varied 
where necessary to reflect the circumstances of the selected candidate. 

From time to time it may be necessary to take account of the external pay levels 
in the
labour market in order to attract and retain employees with particular 
experience, skills and capacity. Where necessary, the Council will ensure the 
requirement for such comparison is objectively justified by reference to clear and 
transparent evidence of relevant market comparators, using data sources 
available from within the local government sector and outside, as appropriate e.g. 
Epaycheck

Any temporary supplement to the salary scale for the grade is approved in 
accordance with the Council’s Market Factor Supplement Policy.

4. Senior Management Remuneration

For the purposes of this statement, senior management means the Head of Paid 
Service, together with those employees (Directors) employed as ‘Chief Officers’ 
whose terms and conditions of employment are governed by the National Joint 
Negotiating Committee for Chief Officers of Local Authorities (J.N.C.).  As of 1st 
April 2019 there will be 10 posts whose salary exceeds £50,000 per annum 
(Appendix 1). The posts currently within these definitions are set out below, with 
details of their salary as at 20 December 2019.

Head of Paid Service

The current salary of the post is a spot salary of £101,959.20 annum, with no 
incremental progression, exclusive of any payment for returning officer duties.

Mayor 

The current salary of the post is a spot salary of £50,216.04 annum, with no 
incremental progression.

Directors 

The current salaries of the posts designated are all spot salaries with no 
incremental progression as Director of Growth and Inclusive Communities is 

Page 49



£81,567.36 per annum, the post of Director of Financial Resources (with Section 
151) is £71,371.44 per annum, Director of Corporate Services and Commercial 
Strategy is £81,567.36 per annum.  This role of Head of Operational and 
Commercial Services is currently vacant.

Super Managers

Their current spot salaries with no incremental progression are Public Protection 
Manager £53,815.92, Planning and Place Manager £52,779.60 and Community 
Services Manager £52,852.92 per annum.

5. Market Factor

In 2019, there has been two Managers recruited and in order to retain their 
services their salaries included a market supplement e.g. ICT Manager with a spot 
salary of £61,034.88 and Property & Estates Manager of a spot salary of 
£53,710.68.  

Where the Council is unable to recruit senior managers, or there is a need for 
interim support to provide cover for a substantive senior management post, the 
Council will, where necessary, consider engaging individuals under a ‘contract for 
service’. These will be sourced through a relevant procurement process ensuring 
the Council is able to demonstrate the maximum value for money benefits from 
competition in securing the relevant service. In assessing such it should be noted 
that in respect of such engagements the Council is not required to make either 
pension or national insurance contributions for the individuals concerned. 

As stipulated in the Code of Practice for Local Authorities on Pay Transparency 
2013, organisational structure charts showing the current structure (Appendix 2) 
is contained within this document.

6. Recruitment of Chief Officers

The Council’s policy and procedures with regard to recruitment of its Chief 
Officers is set out within the Officer Appointment Procedure Rules in the 
Constitution. Posts over £50,000 will be the subject of a report to Full Council.  
When recruiting to all posts the Council will take full and proper account of all 
provisions of relevant employment law and its own policies, as approved.

The determination of the remuneration to be offered to any newly appointed 
Chief Officer will be in accordance with the pay structure and relevant policies in 
place at the time of recruitment.

Page 50



The salaries of the Managing Director and Corporate Directors were set taking 
into account comparative salary data from research provided by the North West 
Employers Organisation. 

7. Additions to Salary of Chief Officers

Subject to satisfactory performance within Aim High, which is assessed on an 
annual basis, the level of remuneration is not variable dependent upon the 
achievement of defined targets. 

To meet specific operational requirements it may be necessary for an individual to
temporarily take on additional duties to their identified role. The Council’s
arrangements for authorising any additional remuneration (e.g. “Acting-up” and 
honorarium payments) relating to temporary additional duties are set out in the 
relevant policy.  

In addition to basic salary, the following posts receive additional payments as set 
out below:

 Fee payments pursuant to her appointment as Returning Officer at 
elections. The fees paid in respect of Parish, District and County Council 
elections are paid by the District and County Council respectively and are 
calculated by reference to the number of contested and uncontested wards 
at each election. Fees for Parish Council elections are calculated on a similar 
basis and are recharged to each parish council. Fee payments for UK 
Parliamentary General elections, Police and Crime Commissioner elections, 
European elections, and National Referendums are set by central 
government and are, in effect, not paid by the Council, as the fees are 
reclaimed. The fee for the Returning Officer therefore varies at each 
election.

 Separate payments are made to the employees of the Returning Officer 
who act as Deputy Returning Officers and other staff who work as part of 
the elections team, and are commensurate with time spent undertaking 
election duties.                                                                                                                     

8. Car and Mileage Allowance

Chief Officers are subject to the Council’s Car Allowance Scheme in relation to 
their use of their own private vehicles on Council business. No Chief Officer is 
currently designated as an Essential Car User under the Scheme. Casual users are 

Page 51



paid the HMRC approved rate of 45p per mile for mileage travelled in their own 
vehicle on Council business.

9. Pension Contributions

Where employees have exercised their statutory right to become members of the 
Local Government Pension Scheme, the Council is required to make a 
contribution to the scheme representing a percentage of the pensionable 
remuneration due under the contract of employment of that employee. The rate 
of contribution is set by Actuaries advising the Cumbria Pension Fund and 
reviewed on a triennial basis in order to ensure the scheme is appropriately 
funded. The employer’s contribution rate, with effect from 1 April 2019 is 15.9 %.

The table below sets out the contribution bands which determine the employees’ 
pension contributions, effective from 1 April 2019:

Whole-time equivalent pay 
range

Employee Contribution 
Main Scheme

Employee Contribution 50/50 
Section 

Up to £14,400                                 5.50%                                       2.75%
£14,401 - £22,500                          5.80%                                       2.90%
£22,501 - £36,500                          6.50%                                       3.25%
£36,501 - £46,200                          6.80%                                       3.40%
£46,201 - £64,600                          8.50%                                       4.25%
£64,601 - £91,500                          9.90%                                       4.95%
£91,501 - £107,700                        10.50%                                     5.25%
£107,701 - £161,500                      11.40%                                     5.70%
£161,501 - or more                        12.50%                                     6.25%

10.Payments on Termination

The Councils approach to statutory and discretionary payments on termination  
of employment of Chief Officers, prior to reaching normal retirement age, is 
set out within its Change Management Policy, and Pension Discretion Policy in 
accordance with Regulations 5 and 6 of the Local Government (Early 
Termination of Employment)(Discretionary Compensation) Regulations 2006 
and Regulation 12 of the Local Government Pension Scheme (Benefits, 
Membership and Contribution) Regulations 2007.

Any severance package over £100,000 will be the subject of a report to Full 
Council.  This will clearly set out the components of the package including 

Page 52



salary paid in lieu, redundancy compensation, pension entitlements, holiday 
pay and bonuses, fees or allowances paid.

11.Lowest Paid Employees

The Council has adopted the Foundation Living Wage.  The UK Living Wage for 
outside of London was set at £9.30 per hour in November 2019.  The figure is 
set annually by the Centre for Research in Social Policy at Loughborough 
University.  The authority will ensure that this is implemented with effect from 
the following 1 April annually. As at 1st April 2019, the lowest salary is 
£17,942.41 per annum. 

The relationship between the rate of pay for the lowest paid employee(s) and 
Chief Officers is determined by the processes used for determining pay and 
grading structures as set out earlier in this policy statement. The lowest salary, 
which in comparison with the salary of the Head of Paid Services is a ratio of 
1:5.7.

As part of its overall and on-going monitoring of alignment with external pay 
markets, both within and outside the sector, the Council will use available 
benchmark information as appropriate.

When comparing the salaries of Chief Officers and other employees, it should 
be noted that Chief Officers have a notional working week of 37 hours but are 
required by their contract of employment to work without additional pay for 
additional hours according to the needs of the Council and the role, including 
evening and weekend working where required. Those employees (the 
majority) employed under the Agreement on Pay & Conditions of Service of 
the National Joint Council for Local Government Services have a contractual 
working week of 37 hours but do not have the same contractual conditions as 
Chief Officers in respect of additional working hours, and are entitled in 
appropriate circumstances to additional payments for overtime or time off in 
lieu.

12.Pay Multiple

The pay ratio of highest paid salary  (including base salary, variable pay, 
bonuses, allowances and the cash value of any benefit in kind), compared to 
median earning  figure of all employees as at 31st March 2019 is £11.99.  The 
median salary is £23,132.20

Page 53



13.Accountability and Decision Making

In accordance with the Constitution of the Council, the Executive is responsible 
for strategic policy decisions in respect of employment matters. Decisions in 
relation to the recruitment, pay, terms and conditions and severance 
arrangements of employees of the Council rest with the Head of Paid Service, 
except where they relate to Chief Officers in which case they rest with the 
Appointments and Appeals Committee.  

14.Re-employment / Re-engagement of former Chief Officers

The Council will not normally employ, or engage under a contract for services, 
Chief Officers who have previously received a redundancy or severance 
payment or who are in receipt of a pension under the Local Government 
Pension Scheme.  The government passed legislation to prevent highly paid 
individuals who return to the public sector within 12 months of exit from 
retaining their full exit payment. 

15.Pay practices in relation to external contractors commissioned to deliver 
services

The Council expects and encourages external contractors commissioned to 
work on behalf of the Council to ensure that there is no pay discrimination in 
their approach to remuneration of their employees and that they comply with 
all relevant employment legislation.

16.Trade Union Facility Time

Copeland Borough Council recognises Unison, Unite and GMB trade 
unions for negotiation and consultation purposes and has a Trade Union 
Time Off & Facilities Policy, which outlines guidance for allowing time off 
to undertake trade union activities.

There are two staff who are union representatives.  There is currently no 
union representative who devotes at least 50% of their time to union 
activity.

So far during the financial year 2019/20 approximately 1 day per month 
paid time off has been given to each trade union representatives. The 
average salary of the trade union representative at the Council is 
£21,981.84. 

Page 54



17.Publication

The Council will publish this pay policy statement on its website at 
www.copeland.gov.uk as soon as is reasonably practicable after it has been 
approved by the Council. Any subsequent amendments to this pay policy 
statement made during the financial year to which it relates will also be 
similarly published after they have been approved by the Council.  

Page 55

http://www.copeland.gov.uk/


Appendix 1: Current Structure of posts over £50,000 per annum
 
Status Post Base Salary 

(£)
Other Payments

1 Head of 
Paid 
Service

Head of Paid Services £101,959.20 The Returning Officer’s 
fee for local elections is 
£100 per contested 
ward. Returning Officer 
fees for non-local 
elections are set by 
legislation prior to the 
election within Fees and 
Charges Orders. Deputy 
Returning Officer fees 
(County elections) is 
payable by the county 
council and the fees are 
set every 4 years by the 
county council

2 Statutory 
Chief 
Officer 
which in 
Copeland 
Borough 
Council is  
the post 
of:

Director of Financial Resources £71371.44

3 Statutory 
Chief 
Officer 
which in 
Copeland 
Borough 
Council is  
the post 
of:

Director Corporate Services and 
Commercial Strategy

£81567.36

4 Non 
Statutory 
Chief 
Officer 

Director of Growth and Inclusive 
Communities

£81567.36

5 Non 
Statutory 
Manager

Mayor £50216.04

6 Non Place and Planning Manager £52779.60
Page 56



Statutory 
Manager

7 Non 
Statutory 
Manager

Public Protection Manager £53815.92

8 Non 
Statutory 
Manager

Community Services Manager £52852.92

9 Non 
Statutory 
Manager

Property & Estates Manager £53710.68

10 Non 
Statutory 
Manager

ICT Manager £61034.88

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix G

Budget consultation feedback 2020/21

Our budget consultation ran from December 4 to January 8. It was posted on 
Copeland Council’s website and social media, and hard copies were available in 
the council’s offices in Whitehaven and Millom, in addition to all Copeland’s 
libraries.

It was featured in the local press and was sent directly to borough councillors, 
parish councils, schools and partners.

The consultation attracted 72 responses; 71 from individuals and one from 
Egremont Town Council.

The responses were as follows:

1.  We propose a council tax increase of 1.95% which is less than the rate of 
inflation. We welcome your comments on this proposal.

64 people answered this question.

- 35 agreed without making comment
- 3 disagreed without making comment
- 10 agreed and added a comment. These included: rise is acceptable if it 
enhances/protects services
- 7 disagreed and added a comment. These included: council tax is already too 
high and not in line with wages increase; services are substandard
- 10 gave a neutral/political comment

2. We plan to review our . We welcome your comments on this proposal.

57 people answered this question.

- 24 agreed without making comment
- 4 disagreed without making comment
- 3 agreed and added a comment. These included: happy to pay more for a 
good service; costs need to be met
- 11 disagreed and added a comment. These included: charges are too high 
already (namely for bulky waste collections and the crematorium); savings 
should be achieved internally; it will impact those on a low income
- 15 gave a neutral/political comment

Page 59



3. Copeland Council is one of the few councils nationally that delivers 
sandbags directly to residents in the event of flooding. We offer this service 
free of charge and we currently budget for £12,000 per year. Should we 
continue to provide this service free of charge, or should we encourage more 
community-centred options? This could include local distribution centres.

68 people answered this question.

- 24 agreed with the proposal to continue delivering free of charge without 
making comment
- 4 agreed with the proposal to encourage community-centred options without 
making comment
- 8 agreed with the proposal to continue delivering free of charge and added a 
comment. These included: it is a vital service for vulnerable residents
- 22 agreed with the proposal to encourage community-centred options and 
added a comment. These included: it is the householder’s own responsibility to 
protect their property and should not be funded by all taxpayers; the local 
approach would provide a better/quicker service.
- 10 gave a neutral/political comment

4. It currently costs Copeland Council £54,000 per year to replace residents’ 
damaged bins. Should we continue to provide this service free of charge, or 
should we charge residents for this service?

71 people answered this question.

- 9 agreed with the proposal to charge residents for this service without 
making comment
- 7 agreed with the proposal to continue providing this service free of charge 
without making comment
- 3 agreed with the proposal to charge residents for this service and added 
comments. They included: charging would encourage residents to look after 
their own bins
- 41 agreed with the proposal to continue providing this service free of charge 
and added comments. They included: most of the damage is caused by waste 
crews; it would impact on vulnerable residents; it would increase fly-tipping
- 11 gave a neutral/political comment

Page 60



5. It currently costs Copeland Council £107,000 per year to collect residents’ 
brown (garden) bins. Should we continue to provide this service free of 
charge, or should we charge residents for this service?

70 people answered this question.

- 6 agreed with the proposal to charge residents for this service without 
making comment
- 25 agreed with the proposal to continue providing this service free of charge 
without making comment
- 5 agreed with the proposal to charge residents for this service and added 
comments. They included: only those who use this service should pay for it
- 29 agreed with the proposal to continue providing this service free of charge 
and added comments. They included: it would encourage fly-tipping; it would 
result in unkempt gardens.
- 5 gave a neutral/political comment

 

6. A number of externally-funded projects are planned for Copeland’s coast, 
including the Connecting Cumbria’s Hidden Coast recreational route. What 
developments would you like to see along Copeland’s coast?

63 people answered this question.

Suggestions included:
- Free parking
- Public toilets
- Improved footpaths (including accessible paths) and cycleways
- Artwork and information boards
- Seating areas/picnic tables
- Improved cleanliness/more litter bins
- Boat trips and coastal activities
- Limits imposed on development

Page 61



7. We are working with residents and partners on investment plans in all our 
four towns. What developments would you like to see in Copeland’s town 
centres?

67 people answered this question.

Suggestions included:
- Free/improved parking
- Public toilets
- Road improvements/cycle tracks
- More bins and improved cleanliness
- Reduction in anti-social behavior
- Improved shops (and fewer charity shops/takeaways)
- Activities for young people
- Improved disabled access
- Reduction in unkempt/empty buildings

8. We have a number of outstanding open space assets in the borough. What 
developments would you like to see in Copeland’s parks?

63 people answered this question.

Suggestions included:
- Reduction in anti-social behavior
- Events/concerts
- Improved seating areas/picnic tables
- Improved landscaping, grass-cutting and cleanliness
- Public toilets
- Cafes
- Improved play areas
- Nature trails/wildlife areas

Page 62



9. The Beacon Museum will be offering two free open weekends on themes 
of science and heritage. What activities would you like to see take place in 
these weekends?

58 people answered this question.

Suggestions included:
- History of industry; shipbuilding, mining, agriculture, nuclear
- Environmental themes, inc. wind and solar energy
- Science of IT and cyber security
- History of towns/villages throughout Copeland
- Military history
- Genealogy sessions
- United States links

10. What other suggestions would you like to make to the Mayor in terms of 
his budget?

60 people answered this question.

Suggestions included:
- Clampdown on anti-social behavior, littering, fly-tipping and dog-fouling
- New public toilets
- Improved parking
- Tackle empty/unkempt shops and buildings
- More support for rural and non-Whitehaven areas
- Investment in Whitehaven Sports Centre
- Improved cleanliness and grass-cutting

Page 63



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Draft Budget
	2021 Budget report V3 (Exec) (no links)
	Appendix A2 Planning Application Fees
	A Guide to the Fees for Planning Applications in England
	These fees apply from 17 January 2018 onwards.
	This document is based upon ‘The Town and Country Planning (Fees for Applications, Deemed Applications, Requests and Site Visits) (England) Regulations 2012’ (as amended)
	Continued on next page…
	Continued on next page…
	Continued on next page…
	Continued on next page…
	Continued on next page…
	ENDS

	Appendix B Earmarked Reserves
	Appendix C Capital Strategy
	Appendix E LCTS
	Appendix F Pay Policy 1920
	Appendix G Budget Consultation


